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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, CRIMINAL NO. 21-161(PAD)
Plaintiff, kit
~ “Recgy, 0/
LUIS ANTONIO CADIZ-MARTINEZ, o MOV 2,4 ay  E
Defendant. i T
s AN JUAL,CP%URT &
4 N
PLEA AGREEMENT “TagaE®

TO THE HONORABLE COURT:
The United States of America, Defendant, Luis Antonio Cadiz-Martinez, and
Defendant’s counsel, Jose R. Aguayo, Esq., pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 11, state that they have reached a Plea Agreement, the terms and
conditions of which are as follows:
LC,“L 1. Charges to which Defendant will Plead Guilty

x/ Defendant agrees to plead guilty to Counts One and Four of the Superseding

Indictment:
COUNT ONE

Carjacking Resulting in Death
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2119(3) and 2)

On or about April 29, 2021, in the District of Puerto Rico and

within the jutisdiction of this Court,
[1] FELIX VERDEJO-SANCHEZ and
[2] LUTS ANTONIO CADIZ-MARTINEZ,

the defendants herein, aiding and abetting each other, with the intent to
canse death or serious bodily harm, did take 2 motor vehicle from the
person or presence of K R.O. that is, 2 2016 Kia Forte, a vehicle that had
been transported, shipped or received in interstate or foreign commerce,
by force, violence and intimidation, resulting in death to K.R.O. Allin
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violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2119(3) and 2.
Killing an Unborn Child

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1841 and 2)

On or about April 29, 2021, in the District of Puerto Rico and

within the jurisdiction of this Court,
(1] FELIX VERDEJO-SANCHEZ and
[2] LUIS ANTONIO CADIZ-MARTINEZ,

thed’efendantsherein,aidingandabetﬁngachother, did commit the
kidnapping and carjacking described in Counts Two and Three and
intentiomally caused the death of a child in utero. All in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1841 and 2. '

2. Maximum Penalties
Count One: The maximum Statutory penalty for the:offense charged in Count
One of the Superseding Indictment, is life in prison pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2119(3);
a fine not to exceed two hundred and fifty thousand dollars pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

§ 3571(b)(3); and a supervised release term of not more than five years, pursuant to
18US.C. § 3583(b)(1).

Count Four: The maximum statutory penalty for the: offense charged in Count
Four of the Superseding Indictment, is life in prison, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1841(C)
and 18U.5.C. § 1111; a fine not to exceed two hundred and fifty thousand dollars
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3571(b)(3); and a supervised reIease term of not more than
five years, pursuant to 18 U..C. § 3583)(1). '
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. 3. Sentencing Guidelines Applicability
Defendant understands that the sentence will be imposed by the Court in
' . accordance with 18 U.S.C. § § 3551-86, and the United States Sentencing Guidelines

(hereinafter “Guidelines”), which are advisory pursuant to the United States
Supreme Court decision in United States v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220 (2005). Purther,
Defendant acknowledges that patole has been abolished, and that the impogition of
Defendant’s sentence may not be suspended.
4. Special Monetary Assessment
Defendant agrees to pay a special monetary assessment (“SMA”) of one
frundred dollars ($100.00) per count of conviction. The SMA will be deposited in the

Crime Victim Fund, pursuant to 18 US.C. § 3013 @A),
5. Fines and Restitution |
The Court may, pursuant to Section SE1.2 of the Gmdehnes order Defendant
to pay a fine. The Court may also impose restitution. Defméiantagrees to execute
and make available, prior to sentencing,  standardized financial statement (OBD
Form 500). The United States will advocate og behalf of any identified victim, and
comply with its cbligations under the Mandatory Victim Restimtion Act of 1996,
6. Sentence to be Determined by the Court
Defendant anderstands that the sentence to be imposed will be determined
solely by the United States District Judge. The United States:cannot make and has

not made any promise or representation as to what sentence Defendant will receive,
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Any discussions that the parties might have had about possible sentences are not
binding in any way on the Court, and do not constitute representations about what
the parties will seek, or what the actual sentence will be.
7. Recommended Sentencing Guidelines Calculations
After due consideration of the relevant factors enumerated in 18 U.S.C. §
3553(a), the United States and Defendant submit that the advisory Guidelines
calculations listed below apply to Defendant. However, Defendant acknowledges

that the Court is not required to accept those recommended Guidelines calculations.

43
Acceptance of Responsibility pursuant to U.5.5.G. 83F1.1 3
TOTAL ADJUSTED OFFENSE LEVEL 40
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X

1

ase Oﬁ'e Level pursuant

to U.S.S.G. § 2A1.1 4
Acceptance of Responsibility pursuant to U.S.8.G. §3E1.1 3
TOTAL ADIJUSTED OFFENSE LEVEL 40

Highest Offense Level ‘ 40

1 unit for the highest offense plus 1 unit for each additional offenses 2

that is equally serious, pursuant to U.S.S.G. §3D1.4.

Combined Offense Level 42
CHCI CHCII CHC Il CHCIV CHCYV CHC VI

360-life 360-life 360-life 360-life 360-life 360-life

L C H 8. Sentence Recommendation
After due consideration of the relevant factors enumerated in 18 U.S.C.
§ 3553(a), the parties agree to request a sentence of imprisonment within the
Guidelines for a Total Offense Level of 42 and a Criminal History Category as

determined by the Court.

a material breach of the Plea Agreement.
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9. No Stipulation as to Criminal History Category
The parties do not stipulate as to any Criminal History Category for
Defendant.
10. Waiver of Appeal
Defendant knowingly and voluntarily agrees that, if the sentence imposed by
the Court is within or below a term of imprisonment for a Total Offense Level of 42
and a Criminal History Category as determined by the Court, Defendant waives the
right to appeal any aspect of this case’s judgment and sentence, including, but not
limyited to the term of imprisonment or probation, restitution, fines, forfeiture, and
the term and conditions of supervised release,
11.No Further Adjustments or Departures
The United States andDefmdantagreethatnofnrtheradjusunmjs or
departures to Defendant’s total adjusted base offense level and no variant sentence
under 18 U.S.C. § 3553—other than any explicifly provided for in this Plea
Agreement—shall be sought by Defendant. The parties agree that any request by
Defendant for an adjustment or departure that is not explicitly provided for in this
Plea Agreement will be considered a material breach ofthisPleaAgreement, and the
United States will be free to ask for any sentence, eﬂhergmdebneorstatmmy
12. Satisfaction with Counsel
Defendant is satisfied with counsel, Jose R. Aguayo, Esq_ ‘and assexts that
counsel has rendered effective legal assistance,
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13.Rights Surrendered by Defendant Through Guilty Plea
Defendant understands that by entecing into this Plea Agreement, Defendant
surrenders and waives certain rights as detailed in this agreement. Defendant
understands that the rights of criminal defendants inciude the following:

a. If Defendant had persisted in aplea of not guilty to the charges,
Defendant would have had the Tight to a speedy jury trial with the
assistance of counsel. The trial may be conducted by a judge sitting
without a jury if Defendant, the United States and the judge agree.

b. Ifa jury trial is conducted, the jury would be composed of twelve lay
persons selected at random. Defendant and Defendant's attorney would
assist in selecting the jurors by removing prospective jurors for cause
where actual bias or other disqualification is shown, or by remeving
prospective jurors without cause by exercising peremptory challenges.
The jury would have to agree, unamimously, before it could return a

separately, determine whether or no fh evidence established
Defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, -

d. At a trial, the United States would be required.to present its witnesses
and other evidence against Defendant. Defendant would be able to
confront those witnesses and Defendant’s attorney would be able to
cross-examine them. In turn, Defendant could present witnesses and
other evidence on Defendant’s own behalf, If the witnesses for
Defendammuldnotappmvoluntmﬂ , Defendant could require their
attendance through the subpoena power of the Court.

e. Ata trial, Defendant could rely on the pnvﬂege against self.

merimination to decline to testify, and no inference of guilt could be
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drawn from Defendant’s refusal to testify. If Defendant desired to do so,
Defendant could testify on Defendant’s own behalf.
14.Stipulation of Facts
The accompanying Stipulation of Facts signed by Defendant is hereby
incorporated into this Plea Agreement. Defendant adopts the Stipulation of Facts
and agrees that the facts therein are accurate in every respect. Defendant agrees and
accepts that had the matter proceeded to trial, the United States would have proven
those facts beyond a reasonable doubt.
15.Limitations of Plea Agreement

This Plea Agreement binds onlytheUmtedS‘tatesAttomey’s Office for the

Dis ctofPuertotho and Defendant. Itdoesnotbmdanyotherfederald:sma
state, or local authorities.
16.Entirety of Plea Agreement
This written agreement constitutes the complete Plea Agreement between the
United States, Defendant, and Defendant’s counsel. The Uﬁited States has made no

promises orrepresentaﬁonsexceptassetforthinwﬁﬁngin?hjs Plea Agreement and

LcH

denies the existence of any other terms and conditions not statedherem
17.Amendments to Plea Agreement |
No other promises, terms or conditions will be entere;iinto between the
parties unless they are in writing and signed by all parties.
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18.Dismissal of Remaining Counts
At sentencing should there be any pending counts and should the Defendant

comply with the terms of this Plea Agreement, the United States will move to
dismiss the remaining counts of the Superseding Indictment pending against
Defendant in this case. |

19.Voluntariness of Plea Agreement

Defendant acknowledges that no threats have been made against Defendant

and that Defendant is pleading guilty freely and voluntarily because Defendant is

20 .Breach and Waiver

[CH Defendant agrees that defendant will have breached this Plea Agreement if,

after entering into this Plea Agreement, Defendant: (a) fails to perform or to falfill
completely each and every one of Defendant’s obﬁgvmtionsﬁndarthis Plea
Agreement; (b) engages in any activity prior to seﬁtmcing; or (c) attempts to
withdraw Defendant's guilty plea. In the event of such a breach, the United States
will be free from its obligation under this Plea Agreement and Defendant will not
have the right to withdraw the guilty plea. Moreover, Defe;:dant agrees that if
Defendant is in breach of the Plea Agreement, Defendant is deemed to have waived
asy objection to the reinstatement of any charges under the Superseding Indictment,
Information, or complaint which may have previously been dismissed ar which may
have not been previously prosecuted. |
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21.Potential Tmpact on Immigration Status
Pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(b)(1)(0), Defendént
hereby agrees and recognizes that if convicted, a Defendant who is not a United
States citizen may be removed from the United States, denied citizenship, and denied
admission to the United States in the future.
22.Felony Conviction
Defendant hereby agrees and recognizes that the plea of guilty in this case will
be recognized as a felony conviction, which will result in the loss of certain rights,
including but not limited to the right to vote in a federal elecuon, to serve as a juror,
to hold public office, and to lawfully possess a firearm_

W. Stephen Muldrow
United States

Jomathan Y. Gottfried

Assistant U.S. Attorney
Chief, Violent Cnmee Division
Dated: _)J20(7 2

Co]!azo-Ortxz Luis Aintonio Cadiz-Martinez
Asmsta:utU.S Attorney Defendant
Dated:__[1pp[3t Dated:_¢)-15=22.
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UNDERSTANDING OF RIGHTS
I have consultedwithcounselandﬁﬂlyundexstandaﬂofmyﬁghts as to the

charges pending against me. Further, I have consulted with my attorney and fully
understand my rights as to the provisions of the Guidelines that may apply in my
case. I have read this Plea Agreement and carefully reviewed every part of it with my
attorey. My counsel has translated the Plea Agreement to me in the Spanish
language and I have no doubts as to the contents of the agreement. I fully understand
this agreement and voluntarily agree to it.

Date: _/{-15-22 ZLQ:"S cadiz MHe E‘: ine2

Luis Antonio Cadiz-Martinez
Defendant

I am the attorney for Defendant. I have fully explained Defendant’s rights to

—

with respect to the pending charges. Further, I have reviewed the
applicable provisions of the Guidelines and I have fully explained to Defendant the
provisions of those Guidelines that may apply in th:s case. I'have carefully reviewed
every part of this Plea Agreement with Defendant. I have trénslated the Plea
AgmementandexplaineditinthespanishhnguagetotheDefcndantwhohas
expressed having no doubts as to the contents of the agreemé.nt. To my knowledge,
Defendant is entering into this Plea Agrecment voluntarily, intelligently, and with
full knowledge of all consequences of Defendant’s plea ,,
Date: J‘// // I;' /2,2, | ‘4" ‘
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STIPULATION OF FACTS

In conjunction with the submission of the accompanying Plea Agreement in
this case, the Defendant Tuis Antonio Cadiz-Martinez admits that Defendant is
guilty as charged in the Superseding Indictment and admits the following:

On or about April 27, 2021, Felix Verdejo-Sanchez (hereinafter referred to as
“Verdejo”) requested Luis Antonio Cadiz-Martinez’s help to terminate K.R.Q.’s
pregnancy.

Oxn April 29, 2021, Verdejo and Cadiz went to meet K.R.O. near her
residence. K.R.O. got out of her gray Kia Forte vehicle and entered the SUV in
which Verdejo and Cadiz-Martinez had arrived.

Inside the SUV, K.R.O. was assaulted, she was forcibly injected with drugs,

and her arms and feet were restrained with wire.

Cadiz-Martinez took the keys to the Kia Forte and drove it to another location
Vi

in San Juan. Cadiz-Martinez then boarded the SUV driven by Verdejo.

Verdejo and Cadiz-Martinez tossed K.R.O. off the side of the Teodoro
Moscoso and into the water of the San Jose Lagoon. Later, Cadiz-Martinez moved
K.R.O.’s car to another location where it was subsequently recovered by the Puerto

Rico Police. &ZGW /%.//7")74

On May @( 2 O. s lifeless body was recovered from the San Jose
Lagoon.

According to forensic pathologist that examined the body, K.R.O.’s cause of
death was drowning and KR O.’s unborn child died as a result.
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Prior to April 29, 2021, and in order to have been located in Puerto Rico,
K.R.0O.’s Kia Forte had been transported, shipped or received in interstate or foreign
commerce.

Had this matter proceeded to trial, the United States would have presented
evidence through the testimony of witnesses as well as physical evidence and
documentary evidence, which would have proven beyond a reasonable doubt
Defendant’s guilt.

At trial, the United States would have proven beyond a reasonable doubt that
defendant Luis Antonio Cadiz-Martinez is guilty as charged in Counts One and Four

Lms An Cad:z-Maz(mez
Defendant
Dated: _ {f-45-22
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